

The effect of the 2008 recession on mental well-being and employment status of people with and without mental health problems

Unnur Jónsdóttir

Thesis for the degree of Master of Public Health Science

Center of Public Health

School of Health Science

University of Iceland



The effect of the 2008 recession on the mental-well being and employment status of people with and without mental health problems

Unnur Jónsdóttir

Thesis for the degree of Master of Public Health Science

Supervisor:

Kristjana Einarsdóttir Ph.D Edda Björk Þórðardóttir Ph.D.

MPH committee:

Unnur Anna Valdimarsdóttir Ph.D.

Faculty of Medicine

Center of Public Health

School of Health Science, University of Iceland

September 2018

Áhrif efnahagshrunsins 2008 á andlega líðan og atvinnustöðu fólks með og án geðræns vanda

Unnur Jónsdóttir

Lokaritgerð til meistaraprófs í lýðheilsuvísindum

Umsjónarkennari Kristjana Einarsdóttir Ph.D.

Leiðbeinandi Edda Björk Þórðardóttir Ph.D.

Meistaraprófsnefnd: Unnur Anna Valdimarsdóttir Ph.D.

Læknadeild Miðstöð í lýðheilsuvísindum Heilbrigðisvísindasvið Háskóla Íslands September 2018

All rights reserved. This master thesis in the Public Health Sciences cann	ot be
copied without prior permission. © Unnur Jónsdóttir 2018	
Printed by: Háskólaprent	

Abstract

The 2008 recession caused increased unemployment and financial strain, which affected people's mental well-being. People with mental health problems are a vulnerable subgroup who might have been hit particularly hard by the recession. In this study the aim was to assess the effect of the 2008 recession on the mental well-being and employment status of people with and without mental health problems. The study cohort existed of Icelanders aged 18-69 years who took part in the study *Health and Wellbeing of Icelanders*. The cohort was divided into groups of people with and without mental health problems depending on their answers to three questions about whether they had anxiety/tension, depression or other types of mental health problems.

Mental well-being was measured with the Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being scale (SWEMWBS) and the Perceived Stress scale 4-item version (PSS-4). Employment status was classified as being employed (working, being an employer or studying) and unemployed. Logistic regression was used to assess the effect of the recession on well-being and employment status using the year 2007 as a reference group. We also compared the risk of unemployment for people with mental health problems with people without mental health problems as a reference group.

The results showed no significant difference between years in terms of poorer mental well-being or high perceived stress for people with mental health problems. People without mental health problems had an increased risk of poor mental well-being (AOR:1.66 (95%CI:1.18,2.35) in 2009 and AOR:1.64 (95%CI:1.20,2.26) in 2012) and high perceived stress (AOR: 1.48 (95%CI:1.07,2.03) in 2009 and AOR:1.53 (95%CI:1.15,2.04) in 2012). Both groups had an increased risk of unemployment following the 2008 recession. Risk of unemployment was greater for people with mental health problems (AOR:2.84 (95%CI:1.36,5.60) in 2007, AOR:2.81 (95%CI:1.71,4.50) in 2009 and AOR:4.78 (95%CI:3.20,4.08) in 2012) than for people without mental health problems.

In conclusion, a similar proportion of people with mental health problems had poor mental well-being and high perceived stress through all the years. People without mental health problems seemed to have been affected by the 2008 recession, showing significantly poorer mental well-being and higher perceived stress in 2009 and 2012 compared to 2007. The gap in unemployment between people with and without mental health problems increased after the 2008 recession.

Ágrip

Með efnahagshruninu 2008 fylgdi aukið atvinnuleysi og fjárhagslegir erfiðleikar sem hafði áhrif á andlega heilsu fólks. Fólk með geðrænan vanda er viðkvæmur hópur sem gæti verið í meiri hættu á að fara illa út úr efnahagsþrengingum.

Markmið þessarar rannsóknar var að bera saman almenna líðan og atvinnustöðu fólks með og án geðræns vanda, fyrir og eftir efnahagshrunið 2008. Rannsóknarhópurinn byggðist á íslensku þýði á aldrinum 18-69 ára úr rannsókninni *Heilsa og líðan Íslendinga*. Hópnum var skipt í tvennt eftir því hvort þeir voru með geðræn vandamál eða ekki en skiptingin byggðist á því hvort þátttakandi svaraði þremur spurningum um hvort þeir hefðu kvíða/spennu, þunglyndi eða annan geðrænan vanda, játandi eða neitandi.

Andleg líðan var mæld með 7 atriða Warwick Edinburg Mental Well-being kvarða (SWEMWBS) og 4 atriða Perceived Stress kvarða (PSS-4). Atvinnustaða var skilgreind sem, í vinnu (þ.m.t. atvinnurekandi og í námi) og atvinnulaus. Lógistísk aðhvarfsgreining var notuð til að meta áhrif efnahagshrunsins á almenna líðan og atvinnustöðu og var árið 2007 notað sem viðmiðunarár. Þá var lógistísk aðhvarfsgreining notuð til að meta atvinnustöðu fólks með geðrænan vanda þar sem fólk án geðræns vanda var sem viðmiðunarhópur.

Niðurstöður gáfu til kynna að engin marktæk breyting var á almennri líðan fólks með geðrænan vanda milli ára en fólk án geðræns vanda var líklegra til að sýna verri almenna líðan (AOR:1.66 (95%CI:1.18,2.35) 2009 og AOR:1.64 (95%CI:1.20,2.26) 2012) og meiri streitu (AOR: 1.48 (95%CI:1.07,2.03) 2009 og AOR:1.53 (95%CI:1.15,2.04) 2012) eftir efnahagshrunið.

Báðir hópar voru líklegir til að vera atvinnulausir eftir efnahagshrunið en hópurinn með geðrænan vanda var í meiri hættu á að verða atvinnulaus miðað við hópinn án geðræns vanda (AOR:2.84 (95%CI:1.36,5.60) 2007, AOR:2.81 (95%CI:1.71,4.50) 2009 og AOR:4.78 (95%CI:3.20,4.08) 2012).

Niðurstöður þessar benda til að hátt hlutfall fólks með geðrænan vanda þjáist af vanlíðan og streitu bæði í uppsveiflu og kreppu en fólk án geðræns vanda finnur fyrir meiri vanlíðan og streitu í kjölfar efnahagshruns. Einnig virðist hlutfall atvinnuleysis milli fólks með og án geðræns vanda aukast eftir efnahagshrun.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to show my appreciation to my supervisors Kristjana Einarsdóttir and Edda Björk Þórðardóttir for their very valuable guidance. I would also like thank Unnur A. Valdimarsdóttir and Helga Zoega for setting me on this path leading to this study.

A special thanks to Thor Aspelund and the other colleagues in at the Statistical Consulting Center at the School of Health Science for their great help with the statistical analysis.

I thank Jón Óskar Guðlaugsson at the Directorate of Health for not only providing me with this valuable data collection that made this study possible but also being helpful and giving me some tips along the way.

Last but not least I would like to thank my family. Thanks to my niece Telma Huld Rangarsdóttir for giving me some tips on a part of this thesis and I would also like to thank my oldest son Jón Hálfdán B. Sigurðsson for taking some time to read through a part of the thesis. A special thanks to my two younger children for showing their patience when their mom was always busy studying. Finally special thanks to my fiancé Hilmar Þór Harðarson for being so patient, encouraging and supportive.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Ágrip	5
Acknowledgements	6
Table of Contents	8
List of tables	9
Introduction	
1. Mental well-being	
1. 2. Mental disorders	
1. 2. 2. Anxiety	
1. 2. 3. Psychological stress – perceived stress	
2. Economic collapse	
2. 1. The effect of economic crisis on mental well-being	
2.2. The 2008 recession	
2. 2. 2. The effect of the 2008 recession on mental health	
2. 2. 2. 1. The 2008 recession; the effect of unemployment on mental well-being	
2. 2. 3. The 2008 recession; mental health problems and unemployment	
Summary	25
Aim	25
References	26
Article	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Study population	
Measures	36
Results	38
Discussion	40
Deferences	11

List of tables

Table 1: All participants in the study of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders, years 2007, 2009 and	
2012, stratified by gender, residency and employment status and according to mental well-being	
(MWB) and perceived stress (PS) according to the SWEMWBS1 and PSS – 425	2
Table 2:Crude and adjusted odds ratio for the risk of low well-being according to SWEMWBS for	
2009 and 2012, compared with 2007 for participants with and without mental problems in the	
study of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders5	3
Table 3:Crude and adjusted odds ratio for the risk of high perceived stress according to PSS-4 for	
2009 and 2012, compared with 2007 for participants with and without mental problems in the	
study of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders5	4
Table 4:Crude and adjusted odds ratio for the risk of unemployment in 2009 and 2012, compared	
with 2007 for participants with and without mental problems in the study of Health and Well-Being	g
of Icelanders5	55
Table 5:Crude and adjusted odds ratio for the risk of unemployment in 2007, 2009 and 2012 for	
participants with mental problems compared to people without mental health problems in the stud	lу
of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders5	6

Introduction

The economic crisis that took place in the fall of 2008 had major consequences for people worldwide (1). The increased unemployment as well as job insecurity and financial strain that people experienced had a significant impact on people's mental health (1, 2). Many studies have shown the effect of the 2008 recession on people's mental health (3-9). Icelandic studies have also shown an association between the 2008 recession and worse mental health, especially among women (10, 11). These studies focus on people without existing mental health problems and report worse mental health following the 2008 recession compared with before the recession. People with existing mental health problems are also vulnerable towards the economic crisis (12). Studies have shown that people with mental health problems were at higher risk of losing their job than people without mental health problems during the 2008 recession (13-15). There is however a paucity of studies about the changes in mental wellbeing of people with existing mental health problems compared to people without existing mental health problems during the 2008 recession. This study focuses on the mental well-being and employment status of people with and without mental health problems during the 2008 recession in Iceland. Our hypothesis is that people with mental health problems reported worse mental well-being following the 2008 recession, than people without mental health problems. The findings of this study could shed important light on the status of mental well-being of people with mental health problems during an economic crisis. It might recognize that people with mental health problems as a vulnerable subgroup need special care and support during an economic crises. This background is divided into two sections. First is a section about mental well-being, which includes chapters on the definition and prevalence of mental disorders. The second section discusses the effect of economic crises on mental well-being and the 2008 recession, how it started and the effect it had on employment status and mental well-being.

1. Mental well-being

Concern for mental well-being can be traced all the way back to ancient times in Greek philosophical writing but it was in the 1950s, after The World War II that mental well-being started to draw scientific attention (16). Since then the mental well-being has been an essential part of quality of life and related research has made important contributions to psychopathology (16). Mental well-being is a phenomenon that includes both positive factors such as social acceptance and pleasure but also negative aspects such as anxiety and suffering (17). There is a generalized agreement that the concept of mental well-being should be included in the definition of mental health along with the absence of diseases (18). In the The World Health Organization's (WHO) definition of mental health, the mental health is "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease" (18, 19).

The construct of well-being and the factors included in the concept have long been a source of debate (18). A review from Linton and colleagues on 99 generic measures of well-being for adults shows that the definition of well-being is neither clear nor complete (17). The evidence from the review points to a lack of mutual understanding on how mental-well being should be measured and what exactly should be measured. But the large number of well-being measuring instruments that are in use points to significant interest in the subject (17). There is widespread agreement that mental well-being should be understood and defined on a multidimensional level, emphasizing the interaction between the individual and the environment (17, 20).

1. 2. Mental disorders

Classifications of mental illness can be traced to the days of Hippocrates. In his classification of mental illness he included epilepsy, mania, melancholia, paranoia, toxic deliria (mental confusion caused by fever) and hysteria (21). The explanation Hippocrates and his companions had for these illnesses was based on the imbalance of blood fluids (21).

In the 1960s the World Health Organization (WHO) started to work on improving the diagnosis and classification of mental disorders. The results of this

work were used in the draft of the Eighth Revision of the Classification of Diseases (ICD-8) which included a definition of each category of mental health disorders (22). The work on the classification of mental disorders was then improved in the Tenth Revision of the Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) which included both diagnostic criteria for mental disorders and assessment instruments for research (22). The ICD and the Diagnosis and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) have been the main guidelines for defining mental disorders (23). The ICD-10 defines mental disorders as "the existence of a clinically recognizable set of symptoms or behavior associated in most cases with distress and interference with personal functions" (22). Mental disorders include mental and behavioral disorders like substance abuse, schizophrenia and schizotypal disorders, mood affective disorders (including depressive disorders), stress related disorders (including anxiety), personality disorders (including anxiety personality disorder) and other disorders (22).

The burden of mental disorders has been rising in all countries (24) and the prevalence of mental disorders today is high. According to WHO at least one in four people in Europe was affected by some type of mental disorders in 2005 (25). For example about 100 million of 870 million people living in Europe in 2005 suffered from anxiety and depression (25). In a 2010 report of a 12 months prevalence of mental and neurological disorders by Wittchen and colleagues, 38.2% of the European population was estimated to suffer from at least one type of mental disorder in 2010. This means that 164 million people in Europe were struggling with some kind of mental disorder in 2010 (26). Wittchen and colleagues state that mental and neurological disorders should be considered the biggest health challenge in the 21st century for Europe (26). Furthermore people with mental health disorders suffer more than other people from other kinds of diseases, such as acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)/human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), cancer and cardiovascular disease (27). They often struggle with alcohol and drug abuse and are more likely to face unemployment, divorce and discrimination such as social exclusion (25, 28). The suicide rate of people with mental disorders is also high (29). For example, in a study from Italy, people who were separated, divorced, widowed or unemployed

were at three times the risk of experiencing any mental disorder compared to people who were married or employed (30).

There are difficulties in measuring the actual prevalence of mental disorders. This is because many people with mental disorders do not seek health care assistance (29). There is also a gap between those needing treatment and the services that are available. In Europe around 44-70% of people with mental disorders needing treatment did not receive health care in 2005 (25).

Some gender differences can be seen in people with mental disorders. In 2011 the rate of mental disorders was higher for women (30.1%) than for men (23.4%) (26). The differences between genders are reflected in different types of mental disorders. Women seems more likely to suffer from anxiety and depression while men are more likely to be dealing with substance abuse and antisocial behavior (31). According to a study in Italy women were three times as likely as men to suffer from mental disorders (30).

1. 2. 1. Depression

One of the most common mental health problems is depression (32). It has a more detrimental effect on communities than many physical diseases (32, 33). The WHO's definition of depressive disorder emphasizes negative feelings such as losing interest in things, feeling sadness or guilt and low self-worth (34). Depressed people might experience interrupted sleep, loss of or increased appetite and concentration problems (34). Depression is more than a short-lived emotional response and mood fluctuation in everyday life (35). Depression can impair people's ability to work and can affect people's ability to cope with everyday life (34). According to the Internal Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) depressive episodes can be categorized as mild, moderate or severe (22). There is a distinction between unipolar depressive disorder and bipolar affective disorder. Unipolar depressive disorder involves repeated depressive episodes with loss of interests lack of enjoyment and reduced energy. Some people with unipolar depression also suffer from anxiety (35). Bipolar affective disorder includes both manic and depressive episodes where the manic episodes consist of over-activity, irritable mood, hyper-activity, increased self-esteem and reduced need for sleep (35). Major depressive disorder is the most serious case of depression where the depressive disorder can be a long-lasting and severe and in the worst cases can lead to suicide (28, 34). The attributable risk of suicide attempts among people with depression was found to be 28% (29). In the ICD-10 the criteria for mild depressive episodes are that two or three depressive symptoms should be present and the person feels distressed but is able to cope with everyday life (22). For moderate depression four or more symptoms should be present and the person has difficulties in coping with every day life (22).

In the Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) the classification of depressive disorders differs from that given by ICD-10 (36). According to DSM-5 the depressive disorders include among others, disruptive mood dysregulation disorder, major depressive disorder and persistent depressive disorder (36). The criteria for the diagnosis of major depressive disorder by DSM-5 include that depressive symptoms such as sadness or depressive mood throughout the day, reduced interests in things, insomnia or hypersomnia, weight loss or weight gain, feelings of worthlessness, concentration problems and thoughts of death are sustained for two weeks straight (36).

Depressive disorders form a significant share of the mental disorders burden worldwide (37). In 2015 the prevalence of people suffering from depressive disorders was estimated to be 4.4% worldwide, counting over 300 million people (34). The number of people with depressive disorders increased by 18% from 2005 to 2015 because of the increasing global population and the growing number of older people, who are the most vulnerable towards becoming depressed (34). A study by Kessler and colleagues showed that the most prevalent lifetime disorder in the USA in 2001-2003 was major depressive disorder (38).

In a 2010 report of the size and burden of mental disorders in 30 European countries depressive disorders accounted for 7,2% of the overall burden of diseases and were the second most frequent group of disorders, with major depressive disorder being the most common depressive disorder with a rate of 6.9% (26). The prevalence of depressive disorders has been high among working-age people in Europe and specifically in urban centers (33). A study by

de Girolamo and colleagues of common mental disorders in Italy showed that one in five participants had suffered from a mental disorders at some point in their lives (30). The most common mental disorders, according to de Girolamo and colleagues, were major depression and specific phobias (30). Around one in ten participants in Italy met the criteria for major depression sometime in their lives (30). In Finland in 2004 the most common mental disorder was found to be depressive disorder with a prevalence of 3.4% for men and 6.3% for women (39). The inhabitants of the northern part of the country had the highest prevalence of major depression (39). In addition participants who were younger, separated or divorced had higher risk of major depression (39). Depressive disorder was also common among unemployed males, with a prevalence of 11% (39).

1. 2. 2. Anxiety

Another common mental health problems is anxiety (40). Anxiety disorders often begin in childhood, adolescence or in early adulthood (40). The symptoms often increase at middle age and then decrease again at older ages (40). Anxiety disorders that begin in childhood or adulthood can have a severe disabling effect on social functioning and can predict psychopathology later in life (41). What characterizes anxiety symptoms are anxiousness and the feeling of fear or avoidance of difficult external or internal stimuli (28, 41). According to DSM-5 the classification of anxiety disorders includes among others, separation anxiety, specific phobias, social anxiety disorder, panic disorder and general anxiety disorder (36). Anxiety is often a part of a major depression diagnoses and a symptom in other diagnosis such as autism spectrum disorder, bipolar disorder and substance abuse disorder (42).

Different patterns have been observed among patients with anxiety disorders. Those who have panic disorder often believe they have a physical problem instead of a psychiatric problem and get examined repeatedly while patients with phobias attempt to hide their problems (40). Anxiety patients often do not seek professional help because of the shyness and shame they feel about their symptoms (40). Sometimes anxiety patients are not diagnosed correctly.

Patients with generalized anxiety disorder symptoms who have some physical symptoms are likely to be diagnosed with something physical rather than anxiety symptoms (43).

According to epidemiological studies one third of the population is affected by anxiety sometime in their lifetime (40). In 2015, 264 million people globally were estimated to suffer from anxiety symptoms (34). The population of people with anxiety symptoms was found to increase between 2005-2015 by 14.9% worldwide (34). In the USA anxiety was the most prevalent class of mental disorder in 2001-2003, with a prevalence rate of 28.8% (38). In a 2010 a report of the size and burden of mental disorders in 30 European countries, anxiety disorder was one of the most prevalent disorders with a prevalence rate of 14%, suffered by an estimated of 69.1 million people (26). The prevalence of anxiety disorders seems to vary across countries, ranging from 2.4% in Italy to 29.8% in Mexico but the highest prevalence tends to be in European countries and the USA (41). In Finland anxiety disorder was the third most common mental disorder and the prevalence was a little higher among women than for men (39). In Iceland there were around 32,294 cases of anxiety disorder in 2004 or a prevalence of 11% (44).

1. 2. 3. Psychological stress - perceived stress

There is a bidirectional relation between mental illness and stress. Individuals who live with mental illness often suffer from perceived stress (45). The most observed stress symptoms are tension, irritability and negative affective tone but the most serious effects of stress can lead to serious mental health problems (46). The most common forms of affective expression in stressful settings are depression and anxiety (46).

In Western culture, stress has been described as a feeling of a loss of control (47). According to Lazarus and Folkman the definition of stress involves interaction between the individual and the environment (48). It depends both on the nature of the stimuli in the environment and the individual's ability to cope with these stimuli (48). Stress has also been defined as the wear and tear of the body (47).

Stress can be of different types. The most common stress form is *acute stress* which comes from too much pressure and demands from the environment (49). Those who experience acute stress frequently suffer from *episodic acute stress*. *Chronic stress* is another type of stress and is most likely the worst kind of stress as it can have a serious effect on people (49).

The events that provoke a stress reaction can vary from one person to another. How the individual *perceives* the situation is important. What one person might perceive as stressful does not cause stress to another person. No one perceives the same situation in the same way (47). The experience of stress can be triggered by people's realization of how difficult it is to cope with threats and demands (50). These difficulties can cause anxiety and depression. Stress scenarios can occur when an individual fails to cope with demands and becomes concerned about that failure (50). Stress results when an individual is confronted with a situation he perceives as overwhelming and has problems coping with (51). Stress is a complex concept but the part of stress that is measured is how one feels when under stressed or perceiving stress. This aspect can be assessed using scores that are based on how the participants perceives the impacts of the events (46, 52). The perceived stress scale (PSS) is used to measure perceived stress and measures to what degree situations in the individual's life are considered stressful (53).

It is difficult to find an accurate prevalence of stress worldwide but according to the American Psychological Association, 22% of Americans reported extreme stress in 2011 which was lower than in 2008, where 30% of Americans reported extreme stress (54). Even though fewer Americans reported extreme stress in 2011 than in 2008, a higher proportion of people (39%) said that their stress had increased over the past year, while 44% said their stress had increased over the past five years (54). In a study conducted in Canada perceived stress decreased from 2001 to 2007 (55). Cohen and Janicki-Deverts found that perceived stress increased during the 2008 recession among white people, men, the age-group 45-64, and among those who were employed full time (56). In 1983 and 2006 but not in 2009, those who were unemployed reported more stress, than those who were employed (56). In Sweden 41% of primary health care patients reported perceived stress in 2009; 37% of the patients were

women and 49% were men. Those who were most stressed also had depressive symptoms (57). Another Swedish study by Bergdahl and Bergdahl showed that the prevalence of moderate stress was estimated at 10% in 2002 but the prevalence of high stress was 4%. Women aged 30-34 reported the most perceived stress (58).

2. Economic collapse

The primary purpose of this study was to explore changes in mental well-being during and after the 2008 recession in Iceland. This second section discusses economic crisis, the 2008 recession and its effect on employment status and mental well-being.

2. 1. The effect of economic crises on mental well-being

The most important social environment affecting people's well-being is the economic system. The social cost of job loss has been well documented (59). Economic crisis has been related to psychological distress, suicide, increased use of mental health services and higher prevalence of common mental disorders (12, 60, 61). During economic crises people suffer from financial stress, which makes them vulnerable towards mental disorders such as depression (62). Tausig and colleagues studied the effect of the recession in 1974-75 in the United States on mental distress (63). They found that distress increased by a one half standard deviation and dissatisfaction increased by one fourth of standard deviation during the recession (63). Their model showed a 50% of increase in distress and a 90% of increase in dissatisfaction as a result of the recession (63). In the 1990s a recession took place which affected countries such as Finland, Sweden, the USA and the UK. In Finland there was a fall in gross domestic product (GDP) which led to economic crisis and increased unemployment (64). In Sweden there was a fall in the value of the Swedish currency, a decrease in inflation and increased unemployment (65). The UK suffered from a small bank crisis that resulted in bank failure and threatened the stability of the financial system (66). In the USA the recession was caused by a weakened economy as an

effect of the Gulf Crisis (67). During the recession in Finland, a study by Viinamaki and colleagues found a higher rate of women suffering from mental disorders compared to men (64). The reason for this difference was considered to be that the unemployment rate for men began to improve towards the end of the study period. However the unemployment rate for women showed no signs of improving, leaving them more vulnerable at the end of the study period (64). The study also showed that women used more psychoactive drugs than men and the conclusion was that men were better adapted to recession than women (64). In Sweden unemployment among young people increased during the 1990s recession as did use of antidepressants among young people (68). The recession caused increased anxiousness and anguish among depressed people and people with other psychiatric disorders (68). Swedish women were particularly vulnerable towards the recession (65). During the 1990s recession in the United States there was increased unemployment in Los Angeles which resulted in increased stress and negative effects on mental health (69). Katikireddi and colleagues conducted a study in England measuring mental health using the General Health Questionnaire-12 (GHQ), a screening tool for depression and anxiety. The prevalence of depression and anxiety was consistently high for women while the prevalence for men increased between 1991 and 1992 (70). The most interesting result of this study was that the increase in unemployment did not result in increased prevalence of depression and anxiety (70).

Japan was hit by an economic collapse in 1998 with a fall in the currency value, higher rate of bankruptcies and a rise in unemployment (71). This economic crisis lead to the highest recorded peak in suicide rates in Japan (72). Both neuroticism (causing individuals to be instable and anxious) and psychoticism (causing individuals to be aggressive, cold and egocentric) were associated with increased suicide risk (73). People with neuroticism were more vulnerable towards social stress caused by the economic crisis (72, 73).

Zivin and colleagues argue that the results of studies on the effect of economic crises on mental health should encourage health care systems and policymakers to take action (12). They should take into consideration the health and social impact of economic crises and create new prevention and recovery policies and agendas such as social protection programs (12).

2.2. The 2008 recession

The 2008 economic collapse was the worst economic crisis since World War II and affected many western countries (74), leading to an increase in unemployment both in Europe and the United States and having a significant effect on people's mental well-being (1). The 2008 recession started in around December 2007 in the United States and had a substantial impact on the labor market (74). The biggest banks and insurers in the United States collapsed and the unemployment rate went from 4.4% in the prerecession period to 10.1% in October 2009 which was the largest increase in unemployment rates since World War II (74, 75). Because of the unique depth and duration of this recession, it has been regarded as the worst economic downturn since World War II and has been referred to as The Great Recession (74, 76).

In the fall of 2008 global trade took a free fall, which led to cutbacks in production and an increase in global unemployment. The Great Recession led to a job crisis and growing job insecurity with severe consequences for individuals, families, households and communities, such as job loss, reduced income and pay cuts (1, 75, 77). This global economic crisis also led to the rise of mental disorders in western European and US populations (77).

In Iceland the economic crisis began in autumn 2008 with the collapse of the bank system. The Icelandic government took over the biggest banks, Glitnir, Landsbanki and Kaupthing by implementing the so-called Emergency Act (78). The effect of this collapse was a significantly reduced income in both households and companies as well as an increase in unemployment in Iceland (78).

2. 2. 1. The effect of the 2008 recession on mental health

Epidemiological data has shown a relationship between the 2008 recession and increased mental health problems as well as a correlation between the recession and an increase in the prevalence of common mental disorders (60). It has been found that the 2008 recession had a negative effect on mental health, both at the individual level and population level (2, 3). The results of a systematic review of the health impacts of the 2008 recession in developed countries show that there

was an increased risk of psychological distress among people who were unemployed, were under financial strain and were facing housing crises (2). At the population level the 2008 recession caused increased psychological stress and increased suicide rates (2).

Many studies have been conducted on the effect of the 2008 recession on mental health across many countries. For instance there was a significant increase in mental health problems in Basque Country, especially among men aged 35-44 and this increase could not be explained by increasing unemployment rates alone (3). There was also an increase in mental health problems among students in Basque Country (3). The 2008 recession had a significant impact on mental health in Greece and there was a higher risk for major depression in 2011 compared to 2008 (4, 5). In Hong Kong the prevalence of major depression was significantly higher during the 2008 recession for both men and women (6). The prevalence was 8.5% in 2007 but increased to 12.5% in 2009 (6). Those who were most vulnerable towards major depression were people aged 55-65, with secondary education, and who were married, employed and had low or highmiddle income (6). In Spain there was a direct relation between the 2008 recession and an increased suicide rate (7). There was an 8% increase in suicide rates after the 2008 recession, predominantly amongst men and working age people (7). In Australia there was increased prevalence of anxiety during the 2008 recession however research also showed decreased psychological distress (8). Women were more vulnerable towards anxiety and psychological distress than men (8). A Canadian study showed increased prevalence of major depressive disorder at the start of the 2008 recession. The increase was predominant in men and in participants who were married or in a relationship (77).

In a study by Modrek, Hamad and Cullen there was evidence of an increased utilization of outpatient and inpatient mental health care services among workers in the United States, just after the 2008 recession (9). Mental health was worse among working men (9). In addition there was increased use of mental health related medication such as anti-depressant, sleep aids and anxiolytics (9). A few studies have been done in Iceland on the effect of the 2008 recession on mental health. In a study by Hauksdóttir and colleagues there was evidence of an

increased stress, particularly among women in sensitive situations such as unemployment, during the 2008 recession in Iceland (11). McClure found in his study of mental health and mental behavior in Iceland during the 2008 recession that depressive symptoms and stress increased for women but not for men (10). A study by Rangarsdottir and colleagues showed that perceived standard of living had an effect on feelings of injustice and frustration for those individuals who felt the recession harmed them more than others (79). Ragnarsdottir and colleagues assumed that these expectations and social comparisons could have exaggerated the impact of poorer living condition on individual's distress (79). Gudmundsdottir did a study on changes in happiness among the Icelandic population aged 18-79 years, during the 2008 recession and found that there were few changes between 2007 and 2009 (80). The happiness score decreased from 8.1 in 2007 to 7.95 in 2009 (where the score 10 was the highest). The most vulnerable groups during the recession were those experiencing financial difficulties (80).

2. 2. 2. The effect of the 2008 recession on unemployment

In a study of 30 European countries there was an increase in unemployment in almost every country during the 2008 recession (except for Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Switzerland and The Netherlands). The increase was highest in the eastern and southern European countries (76).

Increased unemployment in 23 European countries had an effect on people's mental health. One standardized unemployment rate was found to be associated with a 4.1% increase in suicides (81). In a geographical study of unemployment in the USA there was increased inequality between counties' labor markets and over 7.5 million jobs were lost between 2007 and 2009 (82). In a comparative study of Spain and the Czech Republic the unemployment rate was lower in the Czech Republic compared to Spain but the rate was higher among younger workers than older in both countries and the gap increased during the 2008 recession (83). In the Czech Republic younger males with low education were at the most risk of losing their jobs while in Spain the most educated employees were at double the risk of losing their job (83). The unemployment rate in Spain

went from 8.5% in 2007 to 27.2% in the beginning of 2013 (84). There was also increased unemployment during the 2008 recession in Italy (85). In 2009, 25.7% of families in Italy experienced the worsening employment status of at least one member of the family (85). A study done in the USA and Europe among older workers showed an increase in unemployment, from 1.3% in 2006 to 3% in 2010 in the USA and from 1.8% in 2006 to 3.1% in 2010 in Europe (86).

2. 2. 2. 1. The 2008 recession; the effect of unemployment on mental well-being Losing a job makes people more vulnerable and this vulnerability can affect people's mental health. Working conditions and income inequality also affect people's mental health (60). In addition unemployment and financial difficulties can have a damaging effect on a person's well-being (87).

The people who lost their jobs during the 2008 recession in Sweden were at higher risk of suffering from mental distress than those who were employed and the risk increased the longer they remained unemployed (88). The risk was greater for women than for men (88). In Greece mental health was negatively affected by unemployment during the 2008 recession and women's mental health was more affected than men's (5). Long term unemployment and debt along with social isolation, poor housing and nutrition were the main reasons for vulnerability towards mental health problems (5). Unemployment, especially long term unemployment, along with stress and anxiety about the future had a negative impact on mental health in a study among the Spanish population (84). There were indications of increased depressive symptoms related to unemployment in both the USA and Europe during the 2008 recession (86). Urbanos-Garrido and Lopez-Varcarcel point out the need to prevent worsening mental health during economic crises, particularly among vulnerable groups such as unemployed people (84). Catalano and colleagues found in their meta analysis that the most dominant mechanism in economic crises was stress because during an economic crises the increased likelihood of individuals experiencing work-related stress and financial difficulties could probably lead to them experiencing other stressful events (89). Experiencing undesirable job situations and financial difficulties could lead to psychological and behavioral morbidity (89). A study on workers in Spain showed evidence of association between employment uncertainty and poor mental health and the association increased as the uncertainty increased (90). The association was stronger for women than for men (90).

McClure (2014) found out that employment status might have a significant effect on changes in mental health in Iceland (10). Unemployment was shown to be a significant risk factor for depressive symptom for both men and women (10). There was a strong (but not significant) trend of increased risk of depressive symptoms for both men and women who lost their job during the 2008 recession in Iceland (10).

2. 2. 3. The 2008 recession; mental health problems and unemployment

People with mental disorders can be particularly vulnerable towards economic recession (12). Individuals with poorer mental health are more likely to report economic stress during economic contraction and show a greater number of psychiatric symptoms than other people (69). They can also show decreased psychological functioning (69). Economic crisis can lead to increased incidence of seeking psychological help because of the low tolerance of people with mental health problems of economic insecurity (61).

People with mental disorders are more likely to be unemployed or excluded from the workforce and these risks are higher with more severe mental illness (14, 91). The odds of being depressed are twice as high when one is unemployed (92). Job loss functions as a trigger of mental disorder (92). A study by Luciano and Meara showed that the more severe the mental illness the greater the risk of unemployment (14). The employment rate was 76% for people without mental illness, almost 69% for those who had mild mental illness, nearly 63% for those who had moderate mental illness and 55% for those who had serious mental illness (14). People who had serious mental illness were most likely to be unemployed after the age of 49 (14). A study done in 27 European countries by Evans-Lacko and colleagues, showed a gap in unemployment rate between people with and without mental health problems between 2006 and 2010 (13). The unemployment rate was higher among people with mental health problems and the gap was wider in 2010 compared to 2006 (13). Starace and colleagues

did a similar study in Italy with the same results, there was an increased disparity in unemployment rate between people with and without mental health problems during the 2008 recession (15). In a meta analytic study by Paul and Moser the rate of unemployment among people with psychological problems was 34% while the unemployment rate of people without psychological problems was 16% (93). Gender, occupational status and unemployment duration were significant moderators of distressing factors of unemployment (93).

Summary

Studies have shown that economic collapse such as the 2008 recession increase the unemployment rates and can have a detrimental effect on the mental health of the general population. Few studies have compared unemployment of people with and without mental health problems following the 2008 recession. Those that have been published show an increased gap in unemployment rates between the groups, where people with mental health problems were at a higher risk of being unemployed. What is not known is whether there were changes in the mental well-being of people with mental health problems following the 2008 recession and whether these changes differ from the changes in mental well-being of people without mental health problems. This study contributes to existing studies by assessing the mental well-being and unemployment rate of people with and without mental health problems in order to investigate the impact of the 2008 recession on these groups taken separately.

Aim

The aim of this study was to assess the effect of the financial collapse in 2008 on the employment and self-assessed well-being of people with and without preexisting mental health problems.

References

- 1. The Global Social Crisis: Report on the World Social Situation 2011 [Internet]. New York: United Nations; 2011 p. 1-115. Available from: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/rwss/docs/2011/rwss2011.pdf
- 2. Margerison-Zilko C, Goldman-Mellor S, Falconi A, Downing J. Health impacts of the Great Recession: a critical review. Current Epidemiology Reports. 2016;3(1):81-91.
- 3. Bacigalupe A, Esnaola S, Martín U. The impact of the Great Recession on mental health and its inequalities: the case of a Southern European region, 1997–2013. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2016;15(17):1-10.
- 4. Economou M, Madianos M, Peppou LE, Patelakis A, Stefanis CN. Major depression in the Era of economic crisis: A replication of a cross-sectional study across Greece. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2013;145(3):308-14.
- 5. Drydakis N. The effect of unemployment on self-reported health and mental health in Greece from 2008 to 2013: A longitudinal study before and during the financial crisis. Social Science & Medicine. 2015;128:43-51.
- 6. Lee S, Guo W, Tsang A, Mak ADP, Wu J, Ng KL, et al. Evidence for the 2008 economic crisis exacerbating depression in Hong Kong. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2010;126(1):125-33.
- 7. Lopez Bernal JA, Gasparrini A, Artundo CM, McKee M. The effect of the late 2000s financial crisis on suicides in Spain: an interrupted time-series analysis. European journal of public health. 2013;23(5):732-6.
- 8. Shi Z, Taylor AW, Goldney R, Winefield H, Gill TK, Tuckerman J, et al. The use of a surveillance system to measure changes in mental health in Australian adults during the global financial crisis. International Journal of Public Health. 2010;56(4):367-72.
- 9. Modrek S, Hamad R, Cullen MR. Psychological well-being during the great recession: changes in mental health care utilization in an occupational cohort. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(2):304-10.
- 10. McClure C. Mental health and health behaviors following an economic collapse: The case of Iceland [Doctor]. Reykjavik: University of Iceland; 2014.
- 11. Hauksdóttir A, McClure C, Jonsson SH, Ólafsson Ö, Valdimarsdóttir UA. Increased stress among women following an economic collapse—a prospective cohort study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2013;177(9):979-88.
- 12. Zivin K, Paczkowski M, Galea S. Economic downturns and population mental health: research findings, gaps, challenges and priorities. Psychological medicine. 2011;41(7):1-8.
- 13. Evans-Lacko S, Knapp M, McCrone P, Thornicroft G, Mojtabai R. The mental health consequences of the recession: economic hardship and employment of people with mental health problems in 27 European countries. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e69792.
- 14. Luciano A, Meara E. Employment status of people with mental illness: national survey data from 2009 and 2010. Psychiatric Services. 2014;65(10):1201-9.
- 15. Starace F, Mungai F, Sarti E, Addabbo T. Self-reported unemployment status and recession: An analysis on the Italian population with and without mental health problems. PLoS One. 2017;12(4).

- 16. Keyes CLM. Subjective well-being in mental health and human development research worldwide: An introduction. Social Indicators Research. 2006;77(1):1-10.
- 17. Linton M-J, Dieppe P, Medina-Lara A. Review of 99 self-report measures for assessing well-being in adults: exploring dimensions of well-being and developments over time. BMJ Open. 2016;6(7):1-16.
- 18. McAneney H, Tully MA, Hunter RF, Kouvonen A, Veal P, Stevenson M, et al. Individual factors and perceived community characteristics in relation to mental health and mental well-being. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:1-13.
- 19. Mental Health: strengthening our response [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2016 [updated April 2016; cited 2017 september 15th]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs220/en/
- 20. Ng ECW, Fisher AT. Understanding well-being in multi-levels: A review. Health, Culture and Society. 2013;5(1):308-23.
- 21. Black DW, Grant JE. DSM-5: The essential companion to the diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2014.
- 22. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organiazation; 1992 p. 1-267 [cited October 16th 2017]. Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/bluebook.pdf
- 23. Adan-Manes J, Ramos-Gorostiza P. Should definitions for mental disorders include explicit theoretical elements? Psychopathology. 2014;47(3):158-66.
- 24. Media centre. Mental disorders [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 2017 September 25ht]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs396/en/
- 25. Mental health: facing the challenges, building solutions: report from the WHO Europian Ministreal Conference Copenhagen [Internet]. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Europe; 2005. p. 1-182. Availble from: http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0008/96452/E87301.pdf
- 26. Wittchen HU, Jacobi F, Rehm J, Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jönsson B, et al. The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 2011;21(9):655-79.
- 27. Mental health action plan 2013-2020 [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organitazion; 2013 [cited September 15^{th} 2017]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/89966/9789241506021_eng .pdf?sequence=1
- 28. Cockerham WC. Sociology of mental disorder. 9th ed. New York: Routledge 2016.
- 29. Miret M, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Sanchez-Moreno J, Vieta E. Depressive disorders and suicide: Epidemiology, risk factors, and burden. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 2013;37(10, Part 1):2372-4.
- 30. de Girolamo G, Polidori G, Morosini P, Scarpino V, Reda V, Serra G, et al. Prevalence of common mental disorders in Italy. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2006;41(11):853-61.
- 31. Rosenfield S, Smith DT. Gender and mental health: Do men and women have different amounts or types of problems? In: Scheid T, Brown T, editors. A handbook for the study of mental health: Social contexts, theories, and systems. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 257-67.

- 32. Richards D. Prevalence and clinical course of depression: A review. Clinical Psychology Review. 2011;31(7):1117-25.
- 33. AYUSO-MATEOS JL, VÁZQUEZ-BARQUERO JL, DOWRICK C, LEHTINEN V, DALGARD OS, CASEY P, et al. Depressive disorders in Europe: prevalence figures from the ODIN study. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2001;179(4):308-16.
- 34. Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 [cited October 21st 2017]. Available from:

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254610/WHO-MSD-MER-2017.2-eng.pdf?sequence=1

35. Depression [Internet]. Wordl Health Organization. 2017 [cited 2018 March 20th]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/en/.

- 36. Zimmerman M, Galione JN, Chelminski I, McGlinchey JB, Young D, Dalrymple K, et al. A simpler definition of major depressive disorder. Psychological Medicine. 2010;40(3):451-7.
- 37. Üstün TB, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Chatterji S, Mathers C, Murray CJL. Global burden of depressive disorders in the year 2000. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;184(5):386-92.
- 38. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Archives of General Psychiatry. 2005;62(6):593-602.
- 39. Pirkola SP, Isometsä E, Suvisaari J, Aro H, Joukamaa M, Poikolainen K, et al. DSM-IV mood-, anxiety- and alcohol use disorders and their comorbidity in the Finnish general population. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2005;40(1):1-10.
- 40. Bandelow B, Michaelis S. Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2015;17(3):327-35.
- 41. Craske MG, Stein MB. Anxiety. The Lancet. 2016;388(10063):3048-59.
- 42. Roy-Byrne P. Treatment-refractory anxiety; definition, risk factors, and treatment challenges. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2015;17(2):191-206.
- 43. Munk-Jørgensen P, Allgulander C, Dahl AA, Foldager L, Holm M, Rasmussen I, et al. Prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder in general practice in Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden. Psychiatric Services. 2006;57(12):1738-44.
- 44. Andlin-Sobocki P, Jönsson B, Wittchen H-U, Olesen J. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe. European Journal of Neurology. 2005;12:1-27.
- 45. Lavoie JAA, Douglas KS. The Perceived Stress Scale: Evaluating configural, metric and scalar invariance across mental health status and gender. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment. 2012;34(1):48-57.
- 46. Baum A, Davidson LM, Singer JE, Street SW. Stress as a psychophysiological process. In: Baum A, Singer JE, editors. Handbook of Psychology and Health Volume V Stress. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlibaum Associates Publishers 1987. p. 1-24.
- 47. Seaward BL. Managing stress. Principles and strategies for health and well-being 7ed. Boulder: Jones and Bartlett Learning 2012.
- 48. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, appriasal and coping. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 1984.

- 49. Stress. The different kind of stress [Internet]. American Psychological Association 2018 [cited 2018 May 29th]. Available from: http://www.apa.org/helpcenter/stress-kinds.aspx.
- 50. Cox T. Stress research and stress management: Putting theory to work. Health and Safety Executive; 1993. Report No.: 61/1993.
- 51. Agolla J, Ongori H. An assessment of academic stress among undergraduate students: The case of University of Botswana. 2009;4:063-70.
- 52. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. Psychological Bulletin. 1985;98(2):310-57.
- 53. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1983;24(4):385-96.
- 54. Stress in America: The Impact of Stress [Internet]. American Psychological Association; 2011 [cited 2018 July 4th]. Available from: http://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2011/impact.pdf.
- 55. Simpson KRS, Meadows GN, Frances AJ, Patten SBM. Is mental health in the Canadian population changing over time? Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2012;57(5):324-31.
- 56. COHEN S, JANICKI-DEVERTS D. Who's Stressed? Distributions of Psychological Stress in the United States in Probability Samples from 1983, 2006, and 20091. Journal of Applied Social Psychology. 2012;42(6):1320-34.
- 57. Wiegner L, Hange D, Björkelund C, Ahlborg G. Prevalence of perceived stress and associations to symptoms of exhaustion, depression and anxiety in a working age population seeking primary care an observational study. BMC Family Practice. 2015;16:38.
- 58. Bergdahl J, Bergdahl M. Perceived stress in adults: prevalence and association of depression, anxiety and medication in a Swedish population. Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress. 2002;18(5):235-41.
- 59. Dooley D. Unemployment, underemployment, and mental health: Conceptualizing employment status as a continuum. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2003;32(1/2):9-20.
- 60. Frasquilho D, Matos MG, Salonna F, Guerreiro D, Storti CC, Gaspar T, et al. Mental health outcomes in times of economic recession: a systematic literature review. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:115.
- 61. Catalano R. The health effects of economic insecurity. American Journal of Public Health. 1991;81(9):1148-52.
- 62. Davis CG, Mantler J. The consequences of financial stress for individuals, families, and society. Department of Psychology. 2004;March 2004:1-32.
- 63. Tausig M, Fenwick R. Recession and well-being. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1999;40(1):1-16.
- 64. Viinamäki H, Hintikka J, Kontula O, Niskanen L, Koskela K. Mental health at population level during an economic recession in Finland. Nordic Journal of Psychiatry. 2000;54(3):177-82.
- 65. Novo M, Hammarström A, Janlert U. Do high levels of unemployment influence the health of those who are not unemployed? A gendered comparison of young men and women during boom and recession. Social Science & Medicine. 2001;53(3):293-303.

- 66. Logan A. The United Kingdom's small banks' crisis of the early 1990s: What were the leading indicators of failure? England: Bank of England; 2001. Report No.: 139.
- 67. Walsh CE. What caused the 1990-1991 recession? Economic review. Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco. 1993(2):33.
- 68. Hagquist C, Silburn SR, Zubrick SR, Lindberg G, Weitoft GR. Suicide and mental health problems among Swedish youth in the wake of the 1990s recession. International Journal of Social Welfare. 2000;9(3):211.
- 69. Aldwin CM, Revenson TA. Vulnerability to economic stress. American Journal of Community Psychology. 1986;14(2):161-75.
- 70. Katikireddi SV, Niedzwiedz CL, Popham F. Trends in population mental health before and after the 2008 recession: a repeat cross-sectional analysis of the 1991–2010 Health Surveys of England. BMJ Open. 2012;2(5).
- 71. Chang SS, Gunnell D, Sterne JAC, Lu TH, Cheng ATA. Was the economic crisis 1997–1998 responsible for rising suicide rates in East/Southeast Asia? A time–trend analysis for Japan, Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan, Singapore and Thailand. Social Science & Medicine. 2009;68(7):1322-31.
- 72. McCurry J. Japan promises to curb number of suicides. Lancet. 2006;367(9508):383.
- 73. Tanji F, Kakizaki M, Sugawara Y, Watanabe I, Nakaya N, Minami Y, et al. Personality and suicide risk: the impact of economic crisis in Japan. Psychological Medicine. 2015;45(3):559-73.
- 74. Elsby MW, Hobijn B, Sahin A. The labor market in the Great Recession. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series. 2010;No 15979.
- 75. Keeley B, Love P. OECD insights: From crisis to recovery. The causes, course and consequences of the Great Recession. OECD; 2010.
- 76. Norström T, Grönqvist H. The Great Recession, unemployment and suicide. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2015;69(2):110-6.
- 77. Wang J, Smailes E, Sareen J, Fick GH, Schmitz N, Patten SB. The prevalence of mental disorders in the working population over the period of global economic crisis. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2010;55(9):598-605.
- 78. Financial Stability [Internet]. Reykjavik: The Central Bank of Iceland; 2009 p.3-82. Available from:
- https://www.sedlabanki.is/library/Skraarsafn/Fjarmalastodugleiki/FS_2009.pd f
- 79. Ragnarsdóttir BH, Bernburg JG, Ólafsdóttir S. The global financial crisis and individual distress: The role of subjective comparisons after the collapse of the Icelandic economy. Sociology. 2012;47(4):755-75.
- 80. Gudmundsdottir DG. The impact of economic crisis on happiness. Social Indicators Research. 2013;110(3):1083-101.
- 81. Toffolutti V, Suhrcke M. Assessing the short term health impact of the Great Recession in the European Union: A cross-country panel analysis. Preventive Medicine. 2014;64:54-62.
- 82. Thiede BC, Monnat SM. The Great Recession and America's geography of unemployment. Demographic Research. 2016;35:891-928.
- 83. Flek V, Mysíková M. Youth labour flows and unemployment in Great Recession: comparing Spain and the Czech Republic. Review of Economic Perspectives. 2015;15(2):179-95.

- 84. Urbanos-Garrido RM, Lopez-Valcarcel BG. The influence of the economic crisis on the association between unemployment and health: an empirical analysis for Spain. The European Journal of Health Economics: HEPAC. 2015;16(2):175-84.
- 85. Stanzani S. Economic crisis and well-being in Italy. Italian Sociological Review. 2012;2(3):191-207.
- 86. Riumallo-Herl C, Basu S, Stuckler D, Courtin E, Avendano M. Job loss, wealth and depression during the Great Recession in the USA and Europe. Int J Epidemiol. 2014;43(5):1508-17.
- 87. Diener E. Subjective well-being. Psychological Bulletin. 1984;95(3):542-75.
- 88. Backhans MC, Hemmingsson T. Unemployment and mental health—who is (not) affected? European journal of public health. 2012;22(3):429-33.
- 89. Catalano R, Goldman-Mellor S, Saxton K, Margerison-Zilko C, Subbaraman M, LeWinn K, et al. THE HEALTH EFFECTS OF ECONOMIC DECLINE. Annual Review of Public Health. 2011;32:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101146.
- 90. Vives A, Amable M, Ferrer M, Moncada S, Llorens C, Muntaner C, et al. Employment precariousness and poor mental health: Evidence from Spain on a new social determinant of health. Journal of Environmental and Public Health. 2013;2013:978656.
- 91. Coope C, Donovan J, Wilson C, Barnes M, Metcalfe C, Hollingworth W, et al. Characteristics of people dying by suicide after job loss, financial difficulties and other economic stressors during a period of recession (2010-2011): A review of coroners records. J Affect Disord. 2015;183:98-105.
- 92. Dooley D, Catalano R, Wilson G. Depression and unemployment: Panel findings from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area study. American Journal of Community Psychology. 1994;22(6):745-65.
- 93. Paul KI, Moser K. Unemployment impairs mental health: Meta-analyses. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2009;74(3):264-82.

The effect of the 2008 recession on the mental well-being and employment status of people with and without a history of mental health problems

Unnur Jónsdóttir, Kristjana Einarsdóttir and Edda Björk Þórðardóttir

Center of Public Health Sciences
University of Iceland, Reykjavik, Iceland

Abstract

Objectives: This study investigates the effect of the 2008 recession on the self assessed well-being and employment status of people with and without mental health problems.

Methods: The study cohort included participants from the study of *Health and Well-being of Icelanders*, aged 18-69 years. Self-assessed health was measured using a short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS) and the 4-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4). Logistic regression was used to assess the effect of the 2008 recession on self-assessed well-being and employment status in 2009 and 2012 among people with and without mental health problems, using 2007 as a reference group

Results: People without mental health problems had increased risk of poorer well-being in both 2009 (AOR: 1.66, 95%CI:1.18,2.35) and in 2012 (AOR: 1.64, 95%CI:1.20,2.26) compared with 2007 as well as higher perceived stress (AOR: 1.48, 95%CI: 1.07,2.03 in 2009 and 1.53, 95%CI:1.15,2.04 in 2012). No significant change was observed in people with mental health problems. Both groups of people with and without mental health problems had increased risk of unemployment in 2009 and 2012. When comparing these groups, the risk of unemployment was higher for people with mental health problems and increased between 2007 and 2012.

Conclusion: The people without mental health problems were affected by the 2008 recession, showing significantly poorer well-being and higher perceived stress in 2009 and 2012 compared to 2007. The gap in unemployment between people with and without mental health problems did increased following the 2008 recession.

Introduction

In the fall of 2008 the global trade took a free fall, which lead to cutbacks in production and an increase in global unemployment. The 2008 economic crisis led to a job crisis which had a severe effect on individuals, families and communities around the world (1, 75). The 2008 recession has been regarded as the worst global economic downturn since World War II and is often referred to as The Great Recession (74, 76).

Recent studies have shown an association between the 2008 recession, increased psychological stress and poorer mental health among people in the USA and Europe (2, 94). The impact of the 2008 recession led to increased mental health problems in Basque Country (3) and greater risk of major depression among people in Greece, Hong Kong and Canada (4, 6, 77). The increase in unemployment rate following the 2008 recession, was related to depressive symptoms both in the USA and Europe (86).

During a recession people with pre-existing mental health problems are at greater risk of being dismissed from work than people without mental health problems and are therefore more likely to be unemployed (14, 61). Furthermore, a positive association has been found between the severity of mental health problems and the risk of unemployment (14). A study by Luciano and Meara, conducted during the 2008 recession, showed that people with serious mental illness were less likely to be employed compared to people without mental illness (14). Moreover the gap in unemployment rate between people with and without mental health problems was found to increase during the 2008 recession (13). The findings of previous studies, comparing the employment status of people with and without mental health problems during the 2008 recession, indicate higher unemployment rates for people with mental health problems (13-15). Previous studies have investigated unemployment of individuals with and without mental health problems by using cross sectional data and two time points. This study expands existing research by utilizing a representative cohort of the Icelandic population to explore changes in mental well-being and unemployment status among individuals with and without mental health problems using three time points: 2007, 2009 and 2012.

Materials and Methods

Study population

The study cohort was based on participants who responded to the questionnaire Health and Wellbeing of Icelanders published by the Icelandic Public Health Institute. Questionnaires were sent out at three time points: in October to December 2007 and October to November in both 2009 and 2012. The survey population were Icelandic citizens, aged 18-79, with a permanent residency in Iceland and who were able to answer the mailed questionnaire in Icelandic (95). Mailed questionnaires were sent out to 9807 randomly selected individuals in 2007 (response rate 60.3%) (95). In 2009, the 5294 individuals who answered the 2007 questionnaire were asked to participate again (response rate in the 2009 wave was 77,3%) (96). In 2012, the questionnaire was sent to 6434 new individuals (response rate 55%) and in addition 3246 participants from the 2007 survey were invited to participate in 2012, with a response rate of 88.7% (97). The final cohort therefore included 5909 participants in 2007, 4092 participants in 2009 and 6783 participants in 2012. The survey included questions about mental and physical health and demographic factors such as employment status, residency and financial status.

The study cohort was based on the participants who answered the *Health and Wellbeing* study questionnaire in all three years; 2007, 2009 and 2012.

Participants were sorted into two groups, according to their mental health status in 2007. Information on mental health status in 2007 was obtained from answers to three questions in the *Health and Wellbeing* survey:

- 1. Have you ever had chronic anxiety/tension?
- 2. Have you ever had chronic depression?
- 3. Have you ever had other mental health problems?

Response options in the 2007 and 2009 waves were "yes I have it now", "I did but not anymore" and "no I never have". In the 2012 questionnaire the response options were "Yes I have it now ", "I do not have it now but had it within the last 12 months", "I do not have it now but had it for more than 12 months ago", and "I never have" (97).

Participants who responded "yes, I have it now" were classified as having mental health problems and those who responded "no, I never have" were classified as not having mental health problems. Participants with previous mental health problems, who answered "I did but not anymore", "I do not have it now but had it within the last 12 months" and "I do not have it now but had it more than 12 months ago" were excluded from the study for all years.

Measures

Outcome variables

The outcome variables were self-assessed mental well-being, perceived stress and employment status. Mental well-being was assessed using the *Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS)* and perceived stress was assessed using the *Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)*.

The Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS)
WEMWBS is a validated scale measuring mental well-being for people aged 13-74 years old (98, 99). The statements are positively formulated and meant to describe the participant's feelings in the past two weeks. Response options are on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1=never to 5=always (99). The SWEMWBS is a 7-items scale with a score ranging from 7-35 points. The SWEMWBS has been found to have a strong measurement validity and sufficient internal consistency (100, 101). The cutoff score between high and low mental well-being was defined as a score equal to or over 19.3 according to NgFat and colleagues (102).

Perceived stress scale (PSS)-4

The PSS-4 is a shorter version of the Perceived Stress Scale and is a scale designed for measuring stress in community samples (53). PSS-4 is a 4-item scale, with items stated both positively and negatively, about perceived stress during the past month. Response options are on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 =never to 4 =very often. The total score ranges from 0-16 with a higher score indicating more perceived stress (97). In this study high perceived stress was defined as scores above the 90^{th} percentile in accordance with Hauksdottir and colleagues (11).

Employment status

In the *Health and Well-being* study the question about employment status was simply "Are you...." followed by 11 different categories. These categories were: pensioners, on 50-74% disability, on 75% disability, not working, on sick leave, maternity leave, homemaker, working, employer, working part time/part time unemployed and studying.

In this study employment status was classified as *employed* (working, employers, part time working/part time unemployed and studying), *unemployed* (not working), *on disability* (50-75% disability and 75% disability) and *other* (currently on sick leave, maternity leave or homemaker). Pensioners were excluded from the study.

Statistical analysis

A Chi square test was used to assess the statistical significance, as shown in Table 1, with p<0.05 indicating statistical significance.

Logistic regression was used to assess the effect of the financial collapse in 2008 on poor mental well-being, high perceived stress and employment status for people with and without mental health problems. Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for both groups with and without mental health problems during the years 2009 and 2012 with 2007 as the reference point. For the analysis of employment status, logistic regression was used to assess the risk of unemployment of people with mental health problems in 2007, 2009 and 2012, with people without mental health problems as the reference group. The variables *on disability* and *other* were excluded from the models regarding employment status. The models were adjusted for residency and employment status (only for self-assessed well-being and perceived stress) and stratified by age and gender.

Statistical analyses were conducted in R and R Studio, version 1.0.136

Approval

The study was approved by the Bioethics Committee of Iceland and the Data Protection Authority of Iceland. The license number of the studies are: 07-081 for the 2007 study 09-094 for the 2009 study 212-107 for the 2012 study

Results

The study included people with and without mental health problems who responded to the *Health and Wellbeing* survey in 2007, 2009 and 2012 in Iceland. Table 1 shows the outcome variables and demographic characteristics of the groups with and without mental health problems, stratified by year.

In the group of people with mental health problems, women made up around 60% of the participants for all three waves (2007, 2009 and 2012). The employment of people with mental health problems was close to 60% in all three years but the rate of unemployment rose through the years (p=0.003). There was no significant difference in low mental well-being or high perceived stress between the waves among people with mental health problems.

The group without mental health problems was a little older than the group with mental health problems and got significantly older through the waves (p<0.001). For the group without mental health problems, the rate of employment increased through the waves but the rate of unemployment peaked in 2009 (p<0.001). There was a significant difference between the waves in terms of low mental well-being (p= 0.036) and high perceived stress (p= 0.025) for people without mental health problems.

SWEMWBS

Among people with mental health problems no significant difference was found in mental well-being between the years (Table 2). For the group without mental health problems, there was an increased risk of low mental well-being for both 2009 (AOR:1.66, 95% CI:1.18,2.35), and 2012 (AOR:1.64, 95%CI:1.20,2.26) compared with 2007 (Table 2). This association was significant for women in

2009 (AOR:1.87, 95%CI:1.17,3.00) compared with 2007, but not significant for men. The risk of low mental well-being was higher for men in 2012 (AOR: 1.72, 95%CI:1.11,2.71) than women (AOR:1.56, 95%CI:1.00,2.46). For people without mental health problems aged 18-39 years, the risk was more pronounced for the years 2009 (AOR: 2.02, 95%CI:1.27,3.23) and 2012 (AOR: 1.74, 95%CI:1.13,2.71) compared with 2007, but was not significant for people aged 40-69 years.

PSS-4

Among people with mental health problems no significant difference was found in perceived stress between the years (Table 3).

People without mental health problems had an increased risk of high perceived stress in 2009 (AOR: 1.48, 95%CI:1.07,2.03) and 2012 (AOR:1.53, 95%CI:1.15,2.04) compared with 2007 (Table 3). This risk was more pronounced among women (2009: AOR:1.54, 95%CI:1.01,2.35, 2012: AOR:1.66, 95%CI:1.14,2.44) and not significant among men. Similarly, the risk was more evident among people aged 18-39 years (2009: AOR:1.40, 95%CI:0.90,2.19, 2012: AOR:1.80, 95%CI:1.23,2.65) and not significant among people aged 40-69 years.

Employment status.

For the group with mental health problems there was an increased risk of unemployment in both 2009 (AOR:3.55, 95%CI:1.78,7.46) and 2012 (AOR:3.95, 95%CI: 2.12,7.95) compared with 2007 (Table 4). This association was stronger among men in both in 2009 (AOR:9.38, 95%CI:2.94,41.82) and 2012 (AOR:8.40, 95%CI:2.77,36.49) but the confidence intervals were large, indicating low precision level. For women, the risk was lower in 2012 (AOR:2.58, 95%CI:1.22,5.96) than for the overall group and not significant in 2009 compared with 2007. The younger age group had more pronounced increased unemployment than the overall group (2009: 95%CI:2.10,18.04, 2012: AOR:5.82, 95%CI:2.31,17.82) whereas the risk was lower for the older age group in 2012 (AOR: 2.69, 95%CI: 1.19,6.90) and not significant in 2009.

For the group without mental health problems there was an increased risk of unemployment both in 2009 (AOR:4.08, 95%CI:2.61,6.57) and 2012 (AOR: 2.56, 95%CI:1.64,4.12) compared with 2007. This association was similar for both men and women without mental health problems. However, it was more pronounced than in the overall group without mental health problems, for people aged 40-69 years both for 2009 (AOR:7.46, 95%CI:3.37,19.74) and 2012 (AOR:4.19, 95%CI:1.89,11.12) compared with 2007, but one must keep in mind the large confidence interval, indicating a low precision level. The risk of unemployment was lower for the younger age group than for the overall group 2009 (AOR: 2.93, 95%CI:1.66,5.27) and 2012 (AOR:2.03, 95%CI:1.16,3.63) compared to 2007.

Table 5 shows the logistic regression of unemployment status for 2007, 2009 and 2012 for people with mental health problems compared to people without mental health problems. People with mental health problems were at greater risk of being unemployed all in years; 2007 (AOR:2.84, 95%CI:1.36,5.60), 2009 (AOR:2.81 95%CI:1.71,4.50) and 2012 (AOR:4.78, 95%CI: 3.20,4.08) compared to people without mental health problems. This risk was more pronounced among men in 2009 (AOR:4.09, 95%CI:2.04,7.83) and 2012 (AOR:6.45, 95%CI:3.51,11.67) than women and was also more pronounced among older people (2007: AOR:9.03, 95%CI:2.97,28.36, 2009: AOR:2.83, 95%CI:1.34,5.54, 2012: AOR:5.85, 95%CI: 3.37,10.01) than younger people.

Discussion

This study examined changes in mental well-being and employment status before and after the 2008 recession, finding no significant changes in mental well-being and perceived stress among individuals suffering from mental health problems before and during the recession. However we found that participants without mental health problems had an increased risk of low mental well-being and high perceived stress both during and after the 2008 recession. Furthermore we found an increased risk of unemployment in both groups of people both during and after the 2008 recession.

Prior studies have mainly focused on the general population, finding that the 2008 recession was associated with poorer mental health among the general population (60). For instance, in a recent systematic review assessing health outcomes in Europe, 14 of 41 studies reported poorer mental health following the 2008 economic crisis (94). Another systematic review by Mucci and colleagues found that stress did increase during the 2008 recession and the recession had a negative effect on the mental health of working people (103).

This is in line with our findings of worse mental well-being and high perceived stress following the 2008 recession among people without mental health problems.

Increased unemployment during the 2008 recession has been found to be a major factor in decreased mental well-being (60). A study from Greece showed that the unemployment had a more devastating effect on mental health when the unemployment rate was high (5). These results are in line with our findings of an increased risk of unemployment following the 2008 recession for people without mental health problems.

There is a paucity of studies investigating the impact of the 2008 recession on mental health separately for people with and without mental health problems. Our study found that poor self-assessed well-being and high perceived stress among people with mental health problems did not increase during the recession. A similar proportion of people with mental health problems had low mental well-being and high perceived stress before and after the 2008 recession even though the rate of unemployment rose. It might be expected that they would suffer from more stress and worse mental well-being following the recession. It is possible that people with mental health problems often have to deal with a diversity of problems in addition to unemployment. Previous studies indicate that individuals with mental health problems are more likely to suffer from diseases such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), cancer and cardiovascular disease and are more likely to struggle with drug and alcohol abuse (27, 28).

This study also indicated increased unemployment among people with and without mental health problems following the 2008 recession. Our results are in line with previous studies, both from Europe (76, 81, 84-86) and the USA (82,

86) reporting increased unemployment among the general population as an effect of the 2008 recession. These previous studies did not however, investigate people with and without mental health problems separately.

With regard to sociodemographic factors, we found that the risk of unemployment was more pronounced among younger people in the group with mental health problems. This trend was reversed for the group without mental health problems where the risk of unemployment was more pronounced for older people.

With regard to age the risk of unemployment following the 2008 recession was more pronounced in younger people for the group with mental health problems. This finding is in line with studies by Evans-Lacko and colleagues and Starace and colleagues (13, 15). A study from Sweden has shown that young people were at most risk of being unemployed (104) but importantly this study was based on the general population and not on people with mental health problems. The reason why younger people with mental health problems are more at risk of being unemployed might lie in the argument that young people are less experienced and might therefore produce less so companies prefer older and more experienced workers when times gets hard such as during the 2008 recession (105). Among people without mental health problems, the risk of unemployment was more pronounced among older people however this result was not in line with other studies, which reported a higher risk of unemployment among younger people (13, 15, 104).

When estimating the risk of unemployment for people with mental health problems compared to those without, there was a significantly greater risk for people with mental health problems for all three years. The risk was greatest in 2012. This points to an increasing gap between unemployment of people with and without mental health problems. Studies by Evans-Lacko and colleagues and Starace and colleagues investigated the difference in employment rate among people with regard to whether they had mental health problems or not. They also found a gap in the employment rate between those groups, which increased during the recession (13, 15). Evans-Lacko and colleagues found in their study that living in a country where attitudes towards people with mental health problems were negative, meant an increased likelihood of unemployment for

people with mental health problems (13). People with mental health problems often have to face discrimination and deal with social exclusion (25). One study found that attitudes towards people with mental health problems hardened during a recession (13). This might be the reason for the increased unemployment gap between people with and without mental health problems during the 2008 recession.

Strengths and limitations:

This study is based on a large, prospective cohort, assessing the health of the general population at three different time points 2007, 2009 and 2012, providing an opportunity to observe the impact of the economic collapse in 2008 on mental well-being, perceived stress and unemployment.

However our study is limited by a fairly small group of participants with mental health problems (n=576 in 2007, n=367 in 2009 and n=612 in 2012), possibly affecting the study findings and the generalizability of our results.

In addition the study sample group with mental health problems group was defined by their answers to three questions asked in the *Health and WellBeing* survey about chronic anxiety/tension, depression and other mental health problems. The study cohort was determined by how these questions were answered each year and it was not possible to analyze whether the same individuals answered these questions in the same way each year.

Finally, these three questions did not contain information about the severity or duration of mental health problems. Neither was it possible to analyze other mental health problem in the third question, nor the severity or the type of mental health problems.

Conclusion

Similar proportions of people with mental health problems had poor mental well-being and high perceived stress regardless of the economic situation while people without mental health problems showed poorer mental well-being and higher perceived stress during and after the 2008 recession. There was an

increased risk of unemployment in both groups of people with and without mental health problems but the risk was greater among people with mental health problems compared to people without mental health problems.

This study indicates that unemployment (as an effect of the 2008 recession) might not have been the most significant stress factor for people with mental health problems during the 2008 recession. The most dominant stress factors before, during and after the economic collapse might be a topic for future research.

The gap in unemployment between people with and without mental health problems needs to be taken into consideration and it is important to focus on reducing this gap and to ensure that people with mental health problems receive equal opportunities in the labor market.

References

- 1. The Global Social Crisis: Report on the World Social Situation 2011. [Internet]. New York: United Nations; 2011 p. 1-115. Available from: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/rwss/docs/2011/rwss2011.pdf
- 2. Margerison-Zilko C, Goldman-Mellor S, Falconi A, Downing J. Health impacts of the Great Recession: a critical review. Current Epidemiology Reports. 2016;3(1):81-91.
- 3. Bacigalupe A, Esnaola S, Martín U. The impact of the Great Recession on mental health and its inequalities: the case of a Southern European region, 1997–2013. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2016;15(17):1-10.
- 4. Economou M, Madianos M, Peppou LE, Patelakis A, Stefanis CN. Major depression in the Era of economic crisis: A replication of a cross-sectional study across Greece. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2013;145(3):308-14.
- 5. Drydakis N. The effect of unemployment on self-reported health and mental health in Greece from 2008 to 2013: A longitudinal study before and during the financial crisis. Social Science & Medicine. 2015;128:43-51.
- 6. Lee S, Guo W, Tsang A, Mak ADP, Wu J, Ng KL, et al. Evidence for the 2008 economic crisis exacerbating depression in Hong Kong. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2010;126(1):125-33.
- 7. Lopez Bernal JA, Gasparrini A, Artundo CM, McKee M. The effect of the late 2000s financial crisis on suicides in Spain: an interrupted time-series analysis. European journal of public health. 2013;23(5):732-6.
- 8. Shi Z, Taylor AW, Goldney R, Winefield H, Gill TK, Tuckerman J, et al. The use of a surveillance system to measure changes in mental health in Australian

- adults during the global financial crisis. International Journal of Public Health. 2010;56(4):367-72.
- 9. Modrek S, Hamad R, Cullen MR. Psychological well-being during the great recession: changes in mental health care utilization in an occupational cohort. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(2):304-10.
- 10. McClure C. Mental health and health behaviors following an economic collapse: The case of Iceland [PhD]. Reykjavik: University of Iceland; 2014.
- 11. Hauksdottir A, McClure C, Jonsson SH, Olafsson O, Valdimarsdottir UA. Increased stress among women following an economic collapse--a prospective cohort study. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177(9):979-88.
- 12. Zivin K, Paczkowski M, Galea S. Economic downturns and population mental health: research findings, gaps, challenges and priorities. Psychological medicine. 2011;41(7):1-8.
- 13. Evans-Lacko S, Knapp M, McCrone P, Thornicroft G, Mojtabai R. The mental health consequences of the recession: economic hardship and employment of people with mental health problems in 27 European countries. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e69792.
- 14. Luciano A, Meara E. Employment status of people with mental illness: national survey data from 2009 and 2010. Psychiatric Services. 2014;65(10):1201-9.
- 15. Starace F, Mungai F, Sarti E, Addabbo T. Self-reported unemployment status and recession: An analysis on the Italian population with and without mental health problems. PLoS One. 2017;12(4).
- 16. Keyes CLM. Subjective well-being in mental health and human development research worldwide: An introduction. Social Indicators Research. 2006;77(1):1-10.
- 17. Linton M-J, Dieppe P, Medina-Lara A. Review of 99 self-report measures for assessing well-being in adults: exploring dimensions of well-being and developments over time. BMJ Open. 2016;6(7):1-16.
- 18. McAneney H, Tully MA, Hunter RF, Kouvonen A, Veal P, Stevenson M, et al. Individual factors and perceived community characteristics in relation to mental health and mental well-being. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:1-13.
- 19. Mental Health: strengthening our response: World Health Organization; 2016 [updated April 2016; cited 2017 september 15th]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs220/en/.
- 20. Ng ECW, Fisher AT. Understanding well-being in multi-levels: A review. Health, Culture and Society. 2013;5(1):308-23.
- 21. Black DW, Grant JE. DSM-5: The essential companion to the diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2014.
- 22. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organiazation; 1992. p. 1-267 [cited October 16th 2017]. Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/bluebook.pdf
- 23. Adan-Manes J, Ramos-Gorostiza P. Should definitions for mental disorders include explicit theoretical Elements? Psychopathology. 2014;47(3):158-66.
- 24. Media centre. Mental disorders [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 2017 September 25ht]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs396/en/.

- 25. Mental health: facing the challenges, building solutions: report from the WHO Europian Ministreal Conference Copenhagen [Internet]. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Europe; 2005. p. 1-182. Availble from: http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0008/96452/E87301.pdf
- 26. Wittchen HU, Jacobi F, Rehm J, Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jönsson B, et al. The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 2011;21(9):655-79.
- 27. Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020 [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organitazion; 2013. [cited September 15th 2017]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/89966/9789241506021_eng .pdf?sequence=1
- 28. Cockerham WC. Sociology of mental disorder. 9th ed. New York: Routledge 2016.
- 29. Miret M, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Sanchez-Moreno J, Vieta E. Depressive disorders and suicide: Epidemiology, risk factors, and burden. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 2013;37(10, Part 1):2372-4.
- 30. de Girolamo G, Polidori G, Morosini P, Scarpino V, Reda V, Serra G, et al. Prevalence of common mental disorders in Italy. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2006;41(11):853-61.
- 31. Rosenfield S, Smith DT. Gender and mental health: Do men and women have different amounts or types of problems? In: Scheid T, Brown T, editors. A handbook for the study of mental health: Social contexts, theories, and systems. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 257-67.
- 32. Richards D. Prevalence and clinical course of depression: A review. Clinical Psychology Review. 2011;31(7):1117-25.
- 33. AYUSO-MATEOS JL, VÁZQUEZ-BARQUERO JL, DOWRICK C, LEHTINEN V, DALGARD OS, CASEY P, et al. Depressive disorders in Europe: prevalence figures from the ODIN study. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2001;179(4):308-16.
- 34. Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. World Health Organization; 2017.
- 35. Depression [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2017 [cited 2018 March 20th]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/en/.
- 36. Diagnosic and statistical manual of mental disorders; DSM-5. 5 ed. Washington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 37. Üstün TB, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Chatterji S, Mathers C, Murray CJL. Global burden of depressive disorders in the year 2000. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;184(5):386-92.
- 38. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Archives of General Psychiatry. 2005;62(6):593-602.
- 39. Pirkola SP, Isometsä E, Suvisaari J, Aro H, Joukamaa M, Poikolainen K, et al. DSM-IV mood-, anxiety- and alcohol use disorders and their comorbidity in the Finnish general population. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2005;40(1):1-10.
- 40. Bandelow B, Michaelis S. Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2015;17(3):327-35.
- 41. Craske MG, Stein MB. Anxiety. The Lancet. 2016;388(10063):3048-59.

- 42. Roy-Byrne P. Treatment-refractory anxiety; definition, risk factors, and treatment challenges. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2015;17(2):191-206.
- 43. Munk-Jørgensen P, Allgulander C, Dahl AA, Foldager L, Holm M, Rasmussen I, et al. Prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder in general practice in Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden. Psychiatric Services. 2006;57(12):1738-44.
- 44. Andlin-Sobocki P, Jönsson B, Wittchen H-U, Olesen J. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe. European Journal of Neurology. 2005;12:1-27.
- 45. Lavoie JAA, Douglas KS. The Perceived Stress Scale: Evaluating configural, metric and scalar invariance across mental health status and gender. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment. 2012;34(1):48-57.
- 46. Baum A, Davidson LM, Singer JE, Street SW. Stress as a psychophysiological process. In: Baum A, Singer JE, editors. Handbook of Psychology and Health Volume V Stress New Jersey: Lawrence Erlibaum Associates Publishers 1987. p. 1-24.
- 47. Seaward BL. Managing stress. Principles and strategies for health and well-being 7ed. Boulder: Jones and Bartlett Learning 2012.
- 48. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, appriasal and coping. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 1984.
- 49. Stress. The different kind of stress [Internet]. American Psychological Association 2018 [cited 2018 May 29th]. Available from: http://www.apa.org/helpcenter/stress-kinds.aspx.
- 50. Cox T. Stress research and stress management: Putting theory to work. Health and Safety Executive; 1993. Report No.: 61/1993.
- 51. Agolla J, Ongori H. An assessment of academic stress among undergraduate students: The case of University of Botswana. 2009;4:063-70.
- 52. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. Psychological Bulletin. 1985;98(2):310-57.
- 53. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1983;24(4):385-96.
- 54. Stress in America: The Impact of Stress [Internet]. American Psychological Association; 2011 [cited 2018 July 4th]. Available from: http://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2011/impact.pdf.
- 55. Simpson KRS, Meadows GN, Frances AJ, Patten SBM. Is mental health in the Canadian population changing over time? Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2012;57(5):324-31.
- 56. COHEN S, JANICKI-DEVERTS D. Who's Stressed? Distributions of Psychological Stress in the United States in Probability Samples from 1983, 2006, and 20091. Journal of Applied Social Psychology. 2012;42(6):1320-34.
- 57. Wiegner L, Hange D, Björkelund C, Ahlborg G. Prevalence of perceived stress and associations to symptoms of exhaustion, depression and anxiety in a working age population seeking primary care an observational study. BMC Family Practice. 2015;16:38.
- 58. Bergdahl J, Bergdahl M. Perceived stress in adults: prevalence and association of depression, anxiety and medication in a Swedish population. Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress. 2002;18(5):235-41.

- 59. Dooley D. Unemployment, underemployment, and mental health: Conceptualizing employment status as a continuum. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2003;32(1/2):9-20.
- 60. Frasquilho D, Matos MG, Salonna F, Guerreiro D, Storti CC, Gaspar T, et al. Mental health outcomes in times of economic recession: a systematic literature review. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:115.
- 61. Catalano R. The health effects of economic insecurity. American Journal of Public Health. 1991;81(9):1148-52.
- 62. Davis CG, Mantler J. The consequences of financial stress for individuals, families, and society. Department of Psychology. 2004;March 2004:1-32.
- 63. Tausig M, Fenwick R. Recession and well-being. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1999;40(1):1-16.
- 64. Viinamäki H, Hintikka J, Kontula O, Niskanen L, Koskela K. Mental health at population level during an economic recession in Finland. Nordic Journal of Psychiatry. 2000;54(3):177-82.
- 65. Novo M, Hammarström A, Janlert U. Do high levels of unemployment influence the health of those who are not unemployed? A gendered comparison of young men and women during boom and recession. Social Science & Medicine. 2001;53(3):293-303.
- 66. Logan A. The United Kingdom's small banks' crisis of the early 1990s: What were the leading indicators of failure? England: Bank of England; 2001. Report No.: 139.
- 67. Walsh CE. What caused the 1990-1991 recession? Economic Review Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco. 1993(2):33.
- 68. Hagquist C, Silburn SR, Zubrick SR, Lindberg G, Weitoft GR. Suicide and mental health problems among Swedish youth in the wake of the 1990s recession. International Journal of Social Welfare. 2000;9(3):211.
- 69. Aldwin CM, Revenson TA. Vulnerability to economic stress. American Journal of Community Psychology. 1986;14(2):161-75.
- 70. Katikireddi SV, Niedzwiedz CL, Popham F. Trends in population mental health before and after the 2008 recession: a repeat cross-sectional analysis of the 1991–2010 Health Surveys of England. BMJ Open. 2012;2(5).
- 71. Chang SS, Gunnell D, Sterne JAC, Lu TH, Cheng ATA. Was the economic crisis 1997–1998 responsible for rising suicide rates in East/Southeast Asia? A time–trend analysis for Japan, Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan, Singapore and Thailand. Social Science & Medicine. 2009;68(7):1322-31.
- 72. McCurry J. Japan promises to curb number of suicides. Lancet. 2006;367(9508):383.
- 73. Tanji F, Kakizaki M, Sugawara Y, Watanabe I, Nakaya N, Minami Y, et al. Personality and suicide risk: the impact of economic crisis in Japan. Psychological Medicine. 2015;45(3):559-73.
- 74. Elsby MW, Hobijn B, Sahin A. The labor market in the Great Recession. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series. 2010;No 15979.
- 75. Keeley B, Love P. OECD insights: From crisis to recovery. The causes, course and consequences of the Great Recession. OECD; 2010.
- 76. Norström T, Grönqvist H. The Great Recession, unemployment and suicide. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2015;69(2):110-6.

- 77. Wang J, Smailes E, Sareen J, Fick GH, Schmitz N, Patten SB. The prevalence of mental disorders in the working population over the period of global economic crisis. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2010;55(9):598-605.
- 78. Financial Stability. Reykjavik: The Central Bank of Iceland; 2009 Oktober 26th 2009. Contract No.: ISSN 1670-5831.
- 79. Ragnarsdóttir BH, Bernburg JG, Ólafsdóttir S. The global financial crisis and individual distress: The role of subjective comparisons after the collapse of the Icelandic economy. Sociology. 2012;47(4):755-75.
- 80. Gudmundsdottir DG. The impact of economic crisis on happiness. Social Indicators Research. 2013;110(3):1083-101.
- 81. Toffolutti V, Suhrcke M. Assessing the short term health impact of the Great Recession in the European Union: A cross-country panel analysis. Preventive Medicine. 2014;64:54-62.
- 82. Thiede BC, Monnat SM. The Great Recession and America's geography of unemployment. Demographic Research. 2016;35:891-928.
- 83. Flek V, Mysíková M. Youth labour flows and unemployment in Great Recession: comparing Spain and the Czech Republic. Review of Economic Perspectives. 2015;15(2):179-95.
- 84. Urbanos-Garrido RM, Lopez-Valcarcel BG. The influence of the economic crisis on the association between unemployment and health: an empirical analysis for Spain. The European Journal of Health Economics: HEPAC. 2015;16(2):175-84.
- 85. Stanzani S. Economic crisis and well-being in Italy. Italian Sociological Review. 2012;2(3):191-207.
- 86. Riumallo-Herl C, Basu S, Stuckler D, Courtin E, Avendano M. Job loss, wealth and depression during the Great Recession in the USA and Europe. Int J Epidemiol. 2014;43(5):1508-17.
- 87. Diener E. Subjective well-being. Psychological Bulletin. 1984;95(3):542-75.
- 88. Backhans MC, Hemmingsson T. Unemployment and mental health—who is (not) affected? European journal of public health. 2012;22(3):429-33.
- 89. Catalano R, Goldman-Mellor S, Saxton K, Margerison-Zilko C, Subbaraman M, LeWinn K, et al. THE HEALTH EFFECTS OF ECONOMIC DECLINE. Annual Review of Public Health. 2011;32:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101146.
- 90. Vives A, Amable M, Ferrer M, Moncada S, Llorens C, Muntaner C, et al. Employment precariousness and poor mental health: Evidence from Spain on a new social determinant of health. Journal of Environmental and Public Health. 2013;2013:978656.
- 91. Coope C, Donovan J, Wilson C, Barnes M, Metcalfe C, Hollingworth W, et al. Characteristics of people dying by suicide after job loss, financial difficulties and other economic stressors during a period of recession (2010-2011): A review of coroners records. J Affect Disord. 2015;183:98-105.
- 92. Dooley D, Catalano R, Wilson G. Depression and unemployment: Panel findings from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area study. American Journal of Community Psychology. 1994;22(6):745-65.
- 93. Paul KI, Moser K. Unemployment impairs mental health: Meta-analyses. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2009;74(3):264-82.

- 94. Parmar D, Stavropoulou C, Ioannidis JPA. Health outcomes during the 2008 financial crisis in Europe: systematic literature review. The BMJ. 2016;354:i4588.
- 95. Jonsson SH, Gudlaugsson JO, Gylfason HF, Gudmundsdottir DG. Health and well being of Icelanders 2007: Project report [Internet]. Reykjavik. Public Health Institute of Iceland 2011 [cited 2017 november 29th]. Available from:
- https://www.landlaeknir.is/servlet/file/store93/item11019/Heilsa.og.lidan.Isle ndinga.2007.Framkvaemdaskyrsla.pdf
- 96. Gulaugsson JO, Jonsson SH. Health and wellbeing of Icelanders 2009. Project report [Internet]. Reykjavik: Directorate of Health: 2012 [cited 2017 november 29th]. Available from:
- https://www.landlaeknir.is/servlet/file/store93/item18090/Framkv.skyrsla09.pdf
- 97. Gudlaugsson JO, Magnusson KT, Jonsson SH. Health and wellbeing of Icelanders 2012: Project report [Internet]. Reykjvik: Directorate of Health: 2014 [cited 2017 november 29th]. Available from:
- $https://www.landlaeknir.is/servlet/file/store93/item22830/Framkvaemdaskyrsla_2012_loka.pdf\\$
- 98. Clarke A, Friede T, Putz R, Ashdown J, Martin S, Blake A, et al. Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Validated for teenage school students in England and Scotland. A mixed methods assessment. BMC Public Health. 2011;11(1):487.
- 99. Putz R, O'Hara K, Taggart F, Stewart-Brown S. Using WEMWBS to measure the impact of your work on mental wellbeing:
- A practice-based user guide. Warwick Medical School; 2012. p. 1-18.
- 100. Stewart-Brown S, Tennant A, Tennant R, Platt S, Parkinson J, Weich S. Internal construct validity of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): a Rasch analysis using data from the Scottish Health Education Population Survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2009;7:15.
- 101. Haver A, Akerjordet K, Caputi P, Furunes T, Magee C. Measuring mental well-being: A validation of the Short Warwick– Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale in Norwegian and Swedish. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 2015;43(7):721-7.
- 102. Ng Fat L, Scholes S, Boniface S, Mindell J, Stewart-Brown S. Evaluating and establishing national norms for mental wellbeing using the short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS): findings from the Health Survey for England. Quality of Life Research. 2017;26(5):1129-44.
- 103. Mucci N, Giorgi G, Roncaioli M, Fiz Perez J, Arcangeli G. The correlation between stress and economic crisis: a systematic review. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment. 2016;12:983-93.
- 104. Hutengs O, Stadtmann G. Age- and gender-specific unemployment in Scandinavian countries: an analysis based on Okun's law. Comparative Economic Studies. 2014;56(4):567-80.
- 105. Bergin A, Kelly E, McGuinness S. Changes in labour market transitions in Ireland over the Great Recession: what role for policy? IZA Journal of European Labor Studies. 2015;4(1):9.

Table 1: All participants in study of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders, years 2007, 2009 and 2012, stratified by gender, residency and employment status and according to mental well-being (MWB) and perceived stress (PS) of the $SWEMWBS^1$ and $PSS-4^2$

	People with	People with mental health problems	roblems		People without m	hout mental h	ental health problems	V 2
Year	2007	2009	2012	p value*	2007	2009	2012	p value
Total	576	367	612		2922	2006	3216	
Sex (%)								
Men	228(39.6)	145 (39.5)	215 (35.1)	0.213	1425 (48.9)	986 (49.2)	1577 (49.1)	0.973
Women	348 (60.4)	222(60.5)	397 (64.9)		1491 (51.1)	1020 (50.8)	1633 (50.9)	
Missing values	0	0	0		6	0	6	
Mean age (SD)	44.56 (14.25)	46.44 (12.88)	46.31 (13.27)	0.041*	45.11 (14.54)	47.90 (13.07)	48.23 (13.54)	<0.001***
Residency								
Urban (%)	269 (47.4)	159 (43.8)	285 (47.2)	0.511	1373(47.6)	921 (46.6)	1547 (48.6)	0.387
Rural (%)	299 (52.6)	204 (56.2)	319 (52.8)		1514(52.4)	1055(53.4)	1639 (51.4)	
Missing values	8	4	8		33	30	30	
Employment status								
Employed (%)	336 (58.3)	212 (57.8)	363 (59.3)		2353 (80.5)	1640 (81.8)	2696 (83.8)	
Unemployed (%)	14(2.4)	26 (7.1)	48 (7.8)	0.003**	38 (1.3)	68 (3.4)	74 (2.3)	<0.001***
Studying (%)	14 (2.4)	10 (2.7)	10 (1.6)		90 (3.1)	57 (2.8)	77 (2.4)	
Disabled (%)	140(24.3)	86 (23.4)	134 (21.9)		113 (3.9)	73(3.6)	141(4.4)	
Others (%)	72 (12.5)	33 (9.0)	57 (9.3)		328 (11.2)	168 (8.4)	228 (7.1)	
Missing values	0	0	0		0	0	0	
SWEMWBS								
Higher MWB (%)	352 (65.1)	235 (66.0)	375 (63.8)	0.773	2761 (97.4)	1873 (96.2)	3012 (96.4)	0.036*
Lower MWB (%)	189 (35.0)	121 (34.0)	213 (36.2)		74 (2.6)	73 (3.8)	114 (3.6)	
PSS-4 Low PS (%) High PS (%)	338 (60.0)	212 (58.7)	360 (60.1) 239 (39.9)	0.902	2757 (97.0) 86 (3.0)	1873 (95.8) 83 (4.2)	2999 (95.8)	0.025*

^{1:} SWEMWBS: short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale. 2: PSS-4: four items Perceived Stress Scale *Significant at p < 0.05 level. **Significant at p < 0.05 level. **Significant at p < 0.01 level

Table~2: Crude~and~adjusted~odds~ratio~for~the~risk~of~low~well-being~according~to~SWEMWBS~for~2009~and~2012,~compared~with~2007~for~participants~with~and~without~mental~problems~in~the~study~of~Health~and~Well-Being~of~Icelanders.

Gro	up with menta	with mental health problems Group without mental heal			Ith problems	
	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted
		(95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			OR
2007	553/1488	1	1	2841/7927	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	357/1488	0.96	0.98	1952/7927	1.45	1.66
		(0.72,1.27)	(0.73,1.31)		(1.05, 2.02)	(1.18, 2.35)
2012	588/1488	1.06	1.12	3134/7927	1.41	1.64
		(0.83,1.35)	(0.86,1.44)		(1.05, 1.91)	(1.20, 2.26)
Men	562/1488			3876/7927		
2007	217/562	1	1	1389/3876	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	142/562	1.03	1.03	958/3876	1.26	1.44
		(0.66,1.59)	(0.65,1.63)		(0.78, 2.04)	(0.86, 2.39)
2012	203/562	0.94	1.01	1529/3876	1.49	1.72
		(0.63,1.40)	(0.66,1.53)		(0.99, 2.28)	(1.11, 2.71)
Women	926/1488			4041/7927		
2007	326/926	1	1	1447/4041	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	215/926	0.91	0.94	994/4041	1.64	1.87
		(0.63,1.32)	(0.64,1.38)		(1.04,2.59)	(1.17, 3.00)
2012	326/926	1.14	1.17	1600/4041	1.33	1.56
		(0.84,1.56)	(0.85,1.62)		(0.88, 2.05)	(1.00, 2.46)
Age groups						
18-39 years	518/1488			2389/7927		
2007	209/518	1		1009/2389	1	
		(ref)			(ref)	
2009	122/518	0.86	0.85	553/2389	2.16	2.02
		(0.54,1.35)	(0.53,1.35)		(1.37, 3.44)	(1.27, 3.23)
2012	187/518	1.15	1.15	827/2389	1.85	1.74
		(0.77,1.71)	(0.76,1.73)		(1.21,2.88)	(1.13, 2.71)
40-69 years	952/1488			5300/7927		
2007	321/952	1		1708/5300	1	
		(ref)			(ref)	
2009	234/952	1.09	1.07	1373/5300	1.34	1.32

		(0.76,1.58)	(0.73,1.55)		(0.81,2.22)	(0.79,2.22)
2012	397/952	1.07	1.11	2219/5300	1.50	1.52
		(0.78,1.58)	(0.80,1.55)		(0.97,2.37)	(0.97,2.42)

^{*}Adjusted for employment status and residency.

SWEMWBS: short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale

Table 3:Crude and adjusted odds ratio for the risk of high perceived stress according to PSS-4 for 2009 and 2012, compared with 2007 for participants with and without mental problems in the study of Health and Well-Being of Icelanders.

F	People with mo	ental health pro	oblems	People without mental hea		
	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted
		(95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			OR
2007	563/1523	1	1	2843/7931	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	361/1523	1.06	1.07	1956/7931	1.42	1.48
		(0.81,1.38)	(0.81,1.41)		(1.04,1.93)	(1.07,2.03)
2012	599/1523	1.00	1.00	3132/7931	1.42	1.53
		(0.79,1.26)	(0.78,1.28)		(1.08,1.88)	(1.15,2.04)
Men	579/1523			3903/7931		
2007	226/579	1	1	1392/3903	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	143/579	0.86	0.85	966/3903	1.46	1.37
		(0.56,1.33)	(0.54,1.33)		(0.91,2.34)	(0.84,2.22)
2012	210/579	0.77	0.80	1545/3903	1.39	1.36
		(0.52,1.14)	(0.53,1.20)		(0.91,2.15)	(0.88,2.13)
Women	944/1523			4019/7931		
2007	337/944	1	1	1447/4019	1	1
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)
2009	218/944	1.20	1.23	990/4019	1.45	1.54
		(0.85,1.69)	(0.86,1.76)		(0.96,2.19)	(1.01,2.35)
2012	389/944	1.14	1.14	1582/4019	1.51	1.66
		(0.85,1.53)	(0.84,1.56)		(1.05,2.19)	(1.14,2.44)
Agegroups						
18-39 years	522/1523			2374/7931		
2007	211/522	1		1001/2374	1	
		(ref)			(ref)	
2009	122/522	0.95	0.91	552/2374	1.54	1.40
	122/322	0.00		•		

2012	189/522	0.83	0.79	821/2374	1.89	1.80
		(0.56,1.23)	(0.52,1.18)		(1.30,2.79)	(1.23,2.65)
40-69 years	997/1523			5318/7931		
2007	334/997	1		1718/5318	1	
		(ref)			(ref)	
2009	237/997	1.15	1.18	1377/5318	1.55	1.52
		(0.81,1.63)	(0.83,1.68)		(0.99,2.45)	(0.96,2.41)
2012	406/997	1.14	1.17	2223/5318	1.31	1.29
		(0.84,1.54)	(0.86,1.60)		(0.86,2.02)	(0.85,1.99)

^{*}Adjusted for employment status and residency PSS-4: Four items Perceived Stress Scale

Table~4: Crude~and~adjusted~odds~ratio~for~the~risk~of~unemployment~in~2009~and~2012, compared~with~2007~for~participants~with~and~without~mental~problems~in~the~study~of~Health~and~Well-Being~defined~compareof Icelanders.

	People with m	ental health pro	People without mental health problems				
	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted	n/n	Crude OR	Adjusted	
		(95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			OR	
2007	364/1033	1	1	2481/7093	1	1	
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)	
2009	248/1033	2.93	3.55	1765/7093	2.56	4.08	
		(1.52,5.88)	(1.78, 7.46)		(1.73, 3.88)	(2.61, 6.57)	
2012	421/1033	3.22	3.95	2847/7093	1.72	2.56	
		(1.79,6.15)	(2.12, 7.95)		(1.16, 2.57)	(1.64, 4.12)	
Men	430/1033			3650/7093			
2007	165/430	1	1	1279/3650	1	1	
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)	
2009	104/430	6.26	9.38	912/3650	2.80	4.60	
		(2.17,22.60)	(2.94,41.82)		(1.59, 5.07)	(2.42, 9.35)	
2012	161/430	5.71	8.40	1459/3650	1.77	2.49	
		(2.10,19.98)	(2.77,36.49)		(1.02, 3.20)	(1.29, 5.09)	
Women	603/1033			3434/7093			
2007	199/603	1	1	1197/3434	1	1	
		(ref)	(ref)		(ref)	(ref)	
2009	144/603	1.72	1.88	853/3434	2.37	3.63	
		(0.72, 4.18)	(0.77, 4.74)		(1.36, 4.22)	(1.96, 7.06)	
2012	260/603	2.28	2.58	1384/3434	1.66	2.60	
		(1.11, 5.05)	(1.22, 5.96)		(0.97, 2.92)	(1.42, 5.01)	

Agegroups							
18-39 years	405/1033			2111/3434			
2007	160/405			891/2111			
2009	98/405	5.60 5.67		486/2111	2.97	2.93	
		(2.09,17.72)	(2.10,18.04)		(1.68, 5.34)	(1.66, 5.27)	
2012	147/405	5.75 5.82 73		734/2111	2.05	2.03	
		(2.29,17.51)	(2.31,17.82)	(1.18, 3.66		(1.16, 3.63)	
40-69 years	614/1033			4791/3434			
2007	196/614	1		1501/4791 1			
		(ref)			(ref)		
2009	149/614	2.15	2.22	1261/4791	7.53	7.46	
		(0.83, 5.98)	(0.85, 6.18)		(3.41,19.91)	(3.37,19.74)	
2012	269/614	2.64	2.69	2029/4791	4.25	4.19	
		(1.17, 6.77)	(1.19,6.90)		(1.91,11.26)	(1.89,11.12)	

^{*}Adjusted for residency

 $Table\ 5: Crude\ and\ adjusted\ odds\ ratio\ for\ the\ risk\ of\ unemployment\ in\ 2007, 2009\ and\ 2012\ for\ participants\ with\ mental\ problems\ compared\ to\ people\ without\ mental\ health\ problems\ in\ the\ study\ of\ Health\ and\ Well-Being\ of\ Icelanders.$

	People with	out ment	al health pro	blems	People with me	ntal health problems
	n/n	Crude	Adjusted	n/n	Crude OR (95%	Adjusted OR (95%
		OR	OR		CI)	CI)
2007	2481/7093	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	364/1033	2.57 (1.33,4.68)	2.84 (1.36,5.60)
2009	1765/7093	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	248/1033	2.57 (1.79,4.64)	2.81 (1.71,4.50)
2012	2847/7093	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	421/1033	4.82 (3.28,7.02)	4.78 (3.20,4.08)
Men	3650/7093			430/1033		
2007	1279/3650	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	165/430	1.74 (0.50,4.73)	1.86 (0.42,5.98)
2009	912/3650	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	104/430	3.90 (1.96,7.37)	4.09 (2.04,7.83)
2012	1459/3650	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	161/430	5.61 (3.11,9.85)	6.45 (3.51,11.67)
Women	3434/7093			603/1033		
2007	1197/3434	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	199/603	3.11 (1.38,6.61)	3.53 (1.44,8.24)
2009	853/3434	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	144/603	2.26 (1.10,4.37)	1.92 (0.92,3.78)
2012	1384/3434	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	260/603	4.27 (2.55,7.08)	3.80 (2.23,6.39)
Agegroups				n/n		
18-39	2111/7093			405/1033		
years						
2007	891/2111	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	160/405	1.40 (0.46,3.53)	1.35 (0.44,3.39)

2009	486/2111	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	98/405	2.65 (1.34,5.06)	2.75 (1.38,5.32)
2012	734/2111	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	147/405	3.94 (2.22,6.91)	3.87 (2.16,6.87)
40-69	4791/7093			614/1033		
years						
2007	1501/4791	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	196/614	9.23 (3.04,28.94)	9.03 (2.97,28.36)
2009	1261/4791	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	149/614	2.64 (1.26,5.12)	2.83 (1.34,5.54)
2012	2029/4791	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	269/614	5.75 (3.32,9.81)	5.85 (3.37,10.01)